RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

CLERK'S OFFICE

3/22/2017 2:38 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

No. (COA No. 74131-4-I)

Supreme Court of the State of Washington

Stephen Chriss Johnson,

Petitioner,

v.

State of Washington Department of Licensing and Pat Kohler, in her official capacity,

Respondents.

Petition for Review

Kevin Hochhalter Attorney for Petitioner

Cushman Law Offices, P.S. 924 Capitol Way South Olympia, WA 98501 360-534-9183 WSBA# 43124

Identity of Petitioner

Stephen Johnson, Plaintiff in the trial court and Appellant at the Court of Appeals, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review, specified below.

2. Court of Appeals Decision

Johnson v. Dep't of Licensing, No. 74131-4-I (Feb. 21, 2017).

A copy of the decision is included in the Appendix.

3. Issues Presented for Review

- 1. An administrative agency may only act as authorized by the legislature. As of June 1, 2013, the Department of Licensing is not authorized to withhold the driving privilege from a person who failed to pay a traffic infraction for a nonmoving violation. Yet the Department continues to withhold the driving privilege from drivers who failed to pay for a nonmoving violation prior to that date. Is the Department acting outside of its authority?
- 2. Prior to June 1, 2013, the Department had no authority to withhold the driving privilege for a person's failure to pay a criminal fine. Since 2009, the Department has withheld Mr. Johnson's driving privilege for failure to pay a criminal fine. Is the Department acting outside of its authority?

4. Statement of the Case

4.1 The Legislature limited the Department's authority.

In 2011, the Department of Licensing was withholding the driving privilege from nearly 300,000 Washington drivers for failure to pay traffic tickets or criminal fines. Suspension takes a terrible toll on these drivers, who are invariably poor. Without a license, they are often left with no way to legally commute to their places of employment, particularly in rural and other areas

Alicia Bannon, et al., *Criminal Justice Debt: a Barrier to Reentry*, Brennan Center for Justice at New York University School of Law, p. 5, 13, 27 (October 2010), available at http://www.brennancenter.org/sites/default/files/legacy/Fees%20and%20Fines%20FINAL.pdf (last visited March 14, 2017);

Katherine Beckett, et al., *The Assessment and Consequences of Legal Financial Obligations in Washington State*, Washington State
Minority and Justice Commission, pp. 3-5 (August 2008) available at http://www.courts.wa.gov/committee/pdf/2008LFO_report.pdf (last visited March 14, 2017);

Alexes Harris, et al., *Drawing Blood from Stones: Legal Debt and Social Inequality in the Contemporary United States*, American Journal of Sociology, vol. 115 no. 6, p. 1777 (May 2010).

¹ See Austin Jenkins, Northwest News Network, Nearly 300,000 Wash. drivers suspended for failure to pay tickets, KPLU radio broadcast (12:13 p.m., July 23, 2011) available at http://knkx.org/post/nearly-300000-wash-drivers-suspended-failure-pay-tickets (last visited March 14, 2017). The current number of such drivers cannot be known without analyzing the Department's records.

² American Civil Liberties Union, *In for a Penny: The Rise of America's New Debtor's Prisons*, p. 65 (October 2010) available at http://www.aclu.org/files/assets/InForAPenny_web.pdf (last visited March 14, 2017);

where public transportation is insufficient or nonexistent. Many lose their jobs.³ Driving is required to participate in the modern workforce.⁴ "For many, if you cannot drive, you cannot work. If you cannot work, you cannot make money, more likely than not, you cannot pay fines for tickets."⁵

In 2012, Senator Adam Kline sponsored ESSB 6284 to address this specific problem.

Failure to be able to pay—in my neighborhood we call it "driving while poor"—it's an offense—it's **that** that we're trying to get at. And if we can get at it in a way, with the help of the police here, and the state patrol and the sheriffs, that does not actually impinge on public safety, that is exactly what we are trying to do. ... [We're going to] make it safe for people who don't have a whole lot of money, to drive. They still have to pay their civil judgments... but people will be able to get to work to earn the money to pay the doggone fine. ⁶

³ Sandra Gustitus, et al., *Access to Driving and License Suspension Policies for the Twenty-First Century Economy*, The Mobility Agenda, p. 9 (June 2008) available at http://www.mobilityagenda.org/home/file.axd?file=2008%2f9%2fDLPaperforinternet.pdf (last visited March 14, 2017).

⁴ *Id.*, at 4-5; John B. Mitchell & Kelly Kunsch, *Of Driver's Licenses and Debtor's Prison*, 4 Seattle J. Soc. Just. 439, 459 (2005), available at http://digitalcommons.law.seattleu.edu/sjsj/vol4/iss1/44 (last visited March 14, 2017).

Mitchell, at 459-60.

⁶ Senator Adam Kline, in Senate Judiciary Committee, Jan. 25, 2012, at 00:25:10, available at http://www.tvw.org/watch/?customID= 2012010169 (last visited July 22, 2016).

The bill reduced the scope of the Department's authority to withhold the driving privilege of a person who failed to respond, appear, or comply: It authorizes suspension only for moving violations. *See* Laws of 2012, ch. 82 (CP 14). The Legislature enacted the bill with an effective date of June 1, 2013. CP 9-15.

4.2 Johnson asked the Department to reinstate his license because the suspension was no longer authorized.

Stephen Johnson's driver's license was subject to two, separate suspensions. The first, initiated November 1, 2007, was for failure to pay a fine for the infraction of no valid license, a nonmoving violation. CP 29-30. The second, initiated November 12, 2009, was for failure to pay a fine for the crime of driving while license suspended in the third degree. *Id.*

In light of Laws of 2012, ch. 82 (referred to hereafter as "the Act" or "the Amendments"), Johnson requested the Department of Licensing reinstate his license (and the licenses of others similarly situated), arguing that without statutory

The Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion unnecessarily sets forth a detailed history of the two suspensions; chronicles the proceedings in *State v. Johnson*, 179 Wn.2d 534, 315 P.3d 1090 (2014); and comments on Mr. Johnson's financial status. This extraneous commentary is immaterial to the outcome of this case. The simple facts set forth in the paragraph above are sufficient to address the question of whether the Department acted outside its authority when it continued to withhold Mr. Johnson's driving privilege after June 1, 2013.

authorization, his suspension would become invalid on the effective date of the Act. CP 17. The Department refused, stating that it would not release any suspensions that had been imposed prior to the effective date of the Act. CP 18.

4.3 Johnson petitioned for a writ of prohibition, styled as a class action.

After the effective date of the Act, Johnson petitioned for a writ of prohibition to order the Department to cease withholding the driving privilege after its statutory authority had ended. CP 3-5. Johnson sought relief for himself and all persons similarly situated. CP 5.

The Department moved to stay the case pending this Court's decision in *State v. Johnson*, 179 Wn.2d 534, 315 P.3d 1090 (2014). *See* RP, Sept. 13, 2013, at 3. The superior court stayed the case and did not address Johnson's motion to certify a class action. RP, Sept. 13, 2013, at 8-9.

4.4 The superior court granted the Department's motion for summary judgment dismissal.

After this Court issued its Opinion in *State v. Johnson*, the Department moved for summary judgment dismissal. CP 37. The Department conceded that the Act ended its authority to suspend for nonmoving violations (*E.g.*, CP 37, 40:3-4), but argued that the Act did not obligate the Department to release suspensions that were originally imposed prior to the effective

date of the Act (*E.g.*, CP 37). The Department framed its argument in terms of whether the Act was retroactive or only prospective. CP 45-47. The Department also argued, in the alternative, that Johnson was still properly suspended for failure to pay his criminal fine for DWLS 3rd. CP 47-48.

In response, Johnson argued that the Department was required to release prior, nonmoving violation suspensions on the effective date of the Act because the Department no longer had statutory authority. CP 105. Johnson also argued that the Amendments were remedial and therefore could properly apply retroactively to terminate prior suspensions. CP 102-04. Johnson argued that the Department's alternative grounds for dismissal failed because the statutory scheme did not authorize suspension of a driver's license for failure to pay a criminal traffic fine. CP 106-08. The parties agreed that there were no material facts in dispute and the issues could be resolved as a matter of law. RP, April 4, 2014, at 29:10-13.

The superior court determined that a writ of prohibition was available because Johnson had no other adequate remedy at law. CP 247:25-26; RP, June 27, 2014, at 32:20-33:7. However, the superior court denied the writ and dismissed the petition, holding that the suspensions were within the Department's authority. CP 248; RP, June 27, 2014, at 33:19-21, 35:19-24.

4.5 The Court of Appeals affirmed the superior court.

Johnson appealed, requesting this Court accept direct review. CP 251. This Court transferred the case to the Court of Appeals, where it was heard by Division I.

On appeal, Johnson argued that after the effective date of the Act, the Department no longer had the power to withhold the driving privilege for a nonmoving violation, no matter when the suspension may have been initiated. Br. of App. at 12-17; Reply Br. of App. at 11-15. Johnson also argued that the Department had no authority to suspend for failure to pay a criminal fine because the statutes only addressed citations for failure to appear, not failure to pay. Br. of App. at 26-30.

The Department argued that the Amendments did not require release of prior suspensions because they did not change the statutory procedures for releasing suspensions. Br. of Resp. at 14-17. The Department also argued that suspension for failure to pay a criminal fine was authorized under the "failed to comply" language of RCW 46.20.289. Br. of Resp. at 29-35.

The Court of Appeals issued an opinion on July 5, 2016, affirming the superior court decision. In this initial opinion, the Court of Appeals held that Johnson's 2007 suspension was valid because the Amendments were not retroactive and the fine had not been paid. App. 8-13. The Court of Appeals agreed with Johnson that the 2009 suspension was not authorized, but

allowed it to be retroactively cured by the Amendments' addition of "failed to comply" language in RCW 46.64.025. App. 13-15.

Johnson moved for reconsideration, noting that the court had not addressed his arguments on the Department's lack of statutory authority, resolving the issue instead on the basis of procedure. App. 18-19. Johnson emphasized that the Department cannot refuse to release a license in cases where it has no statutory authority to withhold the license at all. App. 19-20. Johnson also pointed out that the court's reasoning was inconsistent, giving the Amendments retroactive effect for the 2009 suspension, but not the 2007 suspension. App. 21-22.

The Court of Appeals denied Johnson's motion for reconsideration, but issued a new opinion on February 21, 2017, addressing some of the issues Johnson had raised. In the new opinion, the court recognized that the Act ended the Department's authority to suspend for a nonmoving violation, but upheld the 2007 suspension on the basis of procedure. App. 35-37. On the 2009 suspension, the court chose to ignore the defect in former RCW 46.64.025 and rely solely on "failed to comply" language in RCW 46.20.289. App. 37.

Johnson seeks review in this Court.

5. Argument

This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because this case involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. Any time a government agency acts outside of its authority is a matter of substantial public interest, but particularly where the Department's ultra vires acts unjustly restrain the liberty of as many as 300,000 Washington residents.

This petition, together with Johnson's briefs in the Court of Appeals, demonstrates, first, that as of the effective date of the Act, the Department no longer has statutory authority to continue to withhold the driving privilege for failure to pay for a nonmoving violation. Where the Department no longer has authority to withhold the privilege, its only valid choice is to release the suspension and, if appropriate, reinstate the license. Second, in 2009, the Department had no authority to suspend a driver's license for failure to pay a criminal traffic fine, making Johnson's second suspension invalid. Third, this case presents issues of substantial public interest where up to 300,000 Washington drivers have been unjustly suffering under the burden of these unauthorized suspensions when they should have been released almost four years ago.

5.1 The Department has no authority to continue to withhold the driving privilege for failure to pay a fine for a nonmoving violation.

A license to drive is an important and valuable property interest that belongs to the driver. *Bell v. Burson*, 402 U.S. 535, 539, 91 S. Ct. 1586, 29 L. Ed. 2d 90 (1971); *State v. Dolson*, 138 Wn.2d 773, 776-77, 982 P.2d 100 (1999). Suspension of a driver's license is a deprivation that must be authorized by statute and comport with due process. *Redmond v. Moore*, 151 Wn.2d 664, 670, 91 P.3d 875 (2004); *State v. Scheffel*, 82 Wn.2d 872, 880, 514 P.2d 1052 (1973). Suspension is a **temporary withholding** of the driving privilege. *See* RCW 46.04.580 ("Suspend,' ... means invalidation for any period less than one calendar year.").

Administrative agencies, such as the Department of Licensing, "are creatures of the Legislature," with no inherent authority. Skagit Surveyors & Eng'rs, L.L.C. v. Friends of Skagit Cnty., 135 Wn.2d 542, 558, 958 P.2d 962 (1998); Ass'n of Wash. Bus. v. Dep't of Revenue, 155 Wn.2d 430, 445, 120 P.3d 46 (2005). Agencies have only those powers expressly granted by statute or necessarily implied from the statutory delegation of authority. Tuerk v. Dep't of Licensing, 123 Wn.2d 120, 124-25, 864 P.2d 1382 (1994). Agencies are not permitted to act outside of their legislatively delegated authority. Alpine Lakes Prot. Soc'y v. Dep't of Ecology, 135 Wn. App. 376, 394, 144 P.3d 385 (2006).

The Department's authority to withhold the driving privilege or license through suspension for failure to pay a traffic fine is set forth in RCW 46.20.291 (emphasis added):

The department is authorized to suspend the license of a driver upon a showing by its records or other sufficient evidence that the licensee ... (5) Has failed to respond to a notice of traffic infraction, failed to appear at a requested hearing, violated a written promise to appear in court, or has failed to comply with the terms of a notice of traffic infraction or citation, as provided in RCW 46.20.289;

The Act amended RCW 46.20.289, limiting the Department's suspension authority (by way of Section 291's cross-reference) to only those cases involving *moving violations:*

The department shall suspend all driving privileges of a person when the department receives notice from a court under RCW 46.63.070(6), 46.63.110(6), or 46.64.025 that the person has failed to respond to a notice of traffic infraction for a moving violation, failed to appear at a requested hearing for a moving violation, violated a written promise to appear in court for a notice of infraction for a moving violation, or has failed to comply with the terms of a notice of traffic infraction or citation for a moving violation...

RCW 46.20.289 (emphasis added).

A suspension under RCW 46.20.289 is indefinite and coercive. It is not a part of the penalty for a crime or infraction. Rather, it is imposed to promote "the efficient administration of

traffic regulations," by coercing drivers to pay their fines. *See Redmond v. Moore*, 151 Wn.2d 664, 677, 91 P.3d 875 (2004). Just as with the coercive penalty of civil contempt, every day the driver has a new opportunity to comply. Thus, the driver holds the "key" to the "prison" of suspension. If the driver fails to pay, the suspension continues one more day.

However, as of the effective date of the Act, the Department's authority to withhold the driving privilege or license through suspension, set forth in RCW 46.20.291 and modified "as provided in RCW 46.20.289," now extends only to failure to respond, appear, comply, or pay for a moving violation. The Department no longer has the power to withhold the driving privilege or license for failure to respond, appear, comply, or pay for a nonmoving violation. In fact, the whole concept of a suspension for a nonmoving violation no longer exists in the statute. Having no authority to withhold, the Department's only valid choice was to release and reinstate.

Johnson's 2007 suspension arose from a nonmoving violation. On the effective date of the Act, the Department lost its statutory authority and should have released the suspension. The Department's continued withholding is outside of its authority and is proper grounds for a writ of prohibition.

The Court of Appeals' opinion resolves the issue not on the basis of authority, but on procedure, holding that because the

Act did not change the procedure for reinstatement, the suspension remains in effect. App. 35-37. This ignores the question of the Department's **authority**. The Department cannot refuse to reinstate a license on the basis of a procedural requirement when the Department no longer has statutory authority to withhold the license at all.

Additionally, the procedure relied on by the Court of Appeals no longer applies to nonmoving violation suspensions. By the plain language of the statute, the procedure applies to "a suspension under this section," which, under the Act, can only mean suspensions for **moving violations**. RCW 46.20.289. There is no longer anything in the statute to dictate authority or procedure for releasing nonmoving violation suspensions.

When the Act became effective, the Department immediately lost all power to withhold the driving privilege through suspension for failure to respond, appear, comply, or pay for a nonmoving violation. The only valid choice was to release and, where appropriate, reinstate. The Department's continued withholding is outside of its authority. This Court should accept review and reverse, granting the writ of prohibition.

5.2 The Department had no authority to withhold the driving privilege for failure to pay a criminal traffic fine.

Johnson's 2009 suspension was also without authority. Under RCW 46.20.289, the Department can only withhold the privilege after receiving an appropriate notice from a court under RCW 46.63.070(6) (failure to respond or appear for an infraction), RCW 46.63.110(6) (failure to pay for an infraction), or RCW 46.64.025 (failure to appear for a citation). At the time of Johnson's 2009 suspension, former RCW 46.64.025 (2006) read as follows:

Whenever any person served with a traffic citation willfully fails to appear for a scheduled court hearing, the court in which the defendant failed to appear shall promptly give notice of such fact to the department of licensing. Whenever thereafter the case in which the defendant failed to appear is adjudicated, the court hearing the case shall promptly file with the department a certificate showing that the case has been adjudicated.

Under this statute, the court only has authority to notify the Department when a person **fails to appear** for a hearing. The court had no authority to send a notice for failure to pay a criminal fine; the Department had no authority to receive it. There was no valid notice under RCW 46.64.025 for the Department to act on under RCW 46.20.289. Johnson's 2009 suspension is invalid.

The original Court of Appeals opinion agreed. App. 14. However, in the revised opinion the court relied instead on the "failed to comply" language in RCW 46.20.289, standing alone. App. 37. However, this "failed to comply" language can only be triggered by a valid notice from a court, as noted above. Because the notice was invalid under RCW 46.64.025, the Department could not suspend for failure to pay a criminal fine.

"Failed to comply with the terms of a ... citation" does not, by its plain language, include failure to pay a criminal fine.

Unlike an infraction, which imposes a fine on its face, a criminal citation only requires a person to respond and appear in court, not pay a fine. CP 93-94; RCW 46.64.015. The fine is imposed only after a criminal conviction. The *Johnson* court's rationale for infractions, relying at least in part on the cross reference to RCW 46.63.110(6) (failure to pay an infraction), does not extend to failure to pay a criminal fine imposed after conviction. *See State v. Johnson*, 179 Wn.2d at 546-48. None of the cross references in Section 289 relate to criminal fines. Additional, significant differences between infractions and citations are detailed in Br. of App. at 28-30 and Reply Br. of App. at 17-19.

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