## RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

### **CLERK'S OFFICE**

5/19/2017 3:49 pm

## RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

NO. 94284-6

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

## STEPHEN CHRISS JOHNSON,

Petitioner,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF LICENSING and PAT KOHLER, in her official capacity,

Respondents.

## ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

DIONNE PADILLA-HUDDLESTON WSBA # 38356 Assistant Attorney General Attorneys for Respondent OID #91020 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 Phone: (206) 464-7676

Fax: (206) 389-2800

E-mail: LALSeaEF@atg.wa.gov

##

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

## IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Johnson asks this Court to review the superior court's order because he claims it involves an issue of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4). Pet. for Rev. 9. It does not. In an unremarkable analysis of plain statutory language, the Court of Appeals properly applied former RCW 46.20.289 to determine the Department acted within its statutory authority in 2007 and 2009 to suspend Johnson's driving privilege. The Court also properly held the amendments to RCW 46.20.289 did not authorize the Department to release suspensions that were properly imposed prior to the amendments.

In addition, Johnson's 2009 suspension based on his failure to pay a fine for a moving violation was proper at the time it was imposed and the subsequent amendments had no effect on this suspension. A different reading of former RCW 46.20.289 would reach absurd results. And this Court has previously analyzed RCW 46.20.289 and upheld the conviction underlying Johnson's 2009 suspension. *See Johnson*, 179 Wn.2d at 558. No further appellate guidance is necessary on the validity of Johnson's suspensions. Johnson does not allege any conflicts with this Court's precedent or other Court of Appeals opinions. *Cf.* RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

In seeking review, Johnson essentially argues that the Court of Appeals' application of an unambiguous statute is unfair to him and similarly situated drivers. Johnson's quarrel is with the amendments to RCW 46.20.289 that he would like to be more expansive. But review by this Court is not the appropriate forum for seeking a remedy to that objection. The court's application of the plain language of former RCW 46.20.289, and its holding that the conditions for releasing suspensions were neither amended nor met, do not raise an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. The Court should deny review.

A. The Plain and Unambiguous Language of Former RCW 46.20.289 Authorized Johnson's 2007 Suspension, and the Subsequent Statutory Amendment Is Not an Issue of Substantial Public Interest Where the Reinstatement Requirements Were Not Changed

Johnson does not dispute that the 2007 suspension of his driving privilege based on his failure to pay the fine for a non-moving violation was proper when imposed. Pet. for Rev. 4, 12. Rather, he asserts that his 2007 suspension is no longer valid because the 2012 legislative amendments limiting new suspensions to failure to pay for moving violations also reinstated pre-existing suspensions for non-moving violations, despite the absence of any statutory language supporting this theory. Pet. for Rev. 10-13. And, he asserts this is an issue of substantial

public interest because the Department is acting outside its authority in continuing to suspend his license and the licenses of similarly situated drivers. Pet. for Rev. at 9. He is incorrect. This Court's further review of the plain and unambiguous language of former RCW 46.20.289 and its amendments is unnecessary.

Former RCW 46.20.289 set forth a two step-process to suspend and then reinstate a driver's license. *Johnson*, slip op. at 10. First, a suspension is triggered when the Department receives notice from a court that a person has failed to comply with the terms of notice of traffic infraction or citation. Second, the statute states the suspension remains in effect until the Department receives a "certificate from the court showing that the case has been adjudicated." Former RCW 46.20.289 (2005); *Johnson*, slip op. at 10. The 2012 amendments did not change this two-step process; it simply limited the first step—suspensions—to incidents of non-compliance related to moving traffic offenses only. *Compare* former RCW 46.20.289 (2005) *with* RCW 46.20.289 (2012); *see Johnson*, slip op. at 10-11.

The Court of Appeals properly held that the amendments did not change the second step: "the legislature did not change the requirements

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> After June 1, 2013, courts stopped sending notice to the Department for non-compliance with non-moving violations, and the Department only initiated new suspensions for non-compliance with moving violations.

DOL must follow to reinstate a driver's license that had been suspended before the effective date of the 2012 amendments. Specifically, the legislature did not change the language that states the suspension shall remain in effect until DOL has received a certificate from the court." *Johnson*, slip op. at 11. Thus the authority that existed in 2007 to suspend Johnson's license was not changed by the statutory amendments, and the suspension continues until the statutory requirements are met for the suspension to be lifted. *Johnson*, slip op. at 11-12.

Johnson complains that the Court of Appeals ignored the question of the Department's authority to suspend and instead focused on the procedure for reinstatement. Pet. for Rev. 12-13. But it is Johnson who ignores the plain language of RCW 46.20.289 to argue that the amendments to RCW 46.20.289 are prospective *and* release his suspension for failure to pay a non-moving violation. Pet. for Rev. 9 ("This petition... demonstrates... that as of the effective date of the Act, the Department no longer has statutory authority to continue to withhold the driving privilege for failure to pay for a nonmoving violation."). In aid of this argument, Johnson relies on the fiction—entirely divorced from statutory language—that his suspension is continually renewing. Pet. for Rev. 12 ("Just as with the coercive penalty of civil contempt, every day

the driver has a new opportunity to comply.... If the driver fails to pay, the suspension continues one more day.").

This is a misapprehension of the law and the Court's holding. Here, the triggering event for the suspension took place in 2007 when, after receiving notice from the district court, the Department was required to suspend Johnson's driver's license for failure to pay the fine. Former RCW 46.20.289 (2005). The statute unambiguously directs the Department *not* to reinstate a license unless specific events occur. *Id.* Absent any legislative mandate or creation of a new remedy, the Department has no authority or obligation to reinstate Johnson's 2007 suspension until DOL receives a certificate from the court showing the case had been adjudicated, which it has not received. Former RCW 46.20.289 (2005); RCW 46.20.289 (2012); *see Johnson*, slip op. at 11-12.

This Court should disregard Johnson's illogical argument that "there is no longer anything in the statute to dictate authority or procedure for releasing nonmoving violation suspensions" since the reinstatement procedure only applies to "a suspension under this section." Pet. for Rev. 13. The amendments—by their own language—only prevent new suspensions for non-moving violations after the effective date of the amendments. They do not release pre-existing suspensions for non-moving violations, like Johnson's 2007 suspension. The Court of Appeals

properly declined to indulge in Johnson's fiction that his suspension is continually renewing and properly held that "under the plain language of the statute, the 2007 suspension remains in effect." *Johnson*, slip op. at 12.

The Legislature has not directed or expressed any intention that the Department reinstate pre-existing non-moving suspensions. Johnson has not, and cannot, establish that further review by this Court of the plain language application of an unambiguous statute is necessary. His petition should therefore be denied.

B. Whether Johnson was Appropriately Suspended in 2009 for His Failure to Pay a Criminal Traffic Fine is Not an Issue of Substantial Public Interest Because the Application of RCW 46.20.289 to This Suspension is Plain and Unambiguous

Johnson asserts the Department also lacked authority to suspend his license in 2009. Pet. for Rev. 14-15. But, as above, the Court of Appeals correctly disposed of this argument by holding that "the plain and unambiguous statute gives DOL the authority to suspend a driver's license for failure to pay a criminal traffic citation." *Johnson*, slip op. at 12. Johnson does not, and cannot, establish that further review of a plain and unambiguous statute is an issue of substantial public importance for three reasons.

First, as further addressed in Section C below, the Court should not even consider Johnson's argument that his license suspension was

improper because he failed to challenge his suspension through the administrative appeals process when it occurred. *See* RCW 46.20.245, former RCW 46.20.289 (2005). Therefore, a writ of prohibition is inappropriate.

Second, Johnson's claim can be dismissed if *either* the 2007 *or* 2009 suspension was appropriate. The Court of Appeals correctly ruled the 2007 suspension was proper and that it continues to be in effect because Johnson still has not paid the fine. *Johnson*, slip op. at 11-12. Thus, even if the 2009 suspension was invalid, Johnson's license would still be suspended based on the ongoing validity of the 2007 suspension. The summary judgment dismissal order can be affirmed on the validity of the 2007 suspension alone.

Third, the 2009 suspension was valid when imposed because Johnson failed to comply with the terms of a citation for a moving violation.<sup>7</sup> At the time Johnson's 2009 suspension went into effect, former RCW 46.20.289 provided:

The department shall suspend all driving privileges of a person when the department receives notice from a court under RCW 46.63.070(6), 46.63.110(6), or 46.64.025 that the person has failed to respond to a notice of traffic infraction, failed to appear at a requested hearing, violated a written promise to appear in court for a notice of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The 2012 amendments to RCW 46.20.289 have no effect on this suspension because the suspension arose from a moving violation. WAC 308-104-160

infraction, or has failed to comply with the terms of a notice of traffic infraction or citation. . . .

(Emphasis added). The phrase "failed to comply with the terms of a notice of traffic infraction or citation" was intended as a catch-all provision requiring a person to resolve all obligations attendant to a violation of the traffic laws. See Johnson, 179 Wn.2d at 551 ("[F]ail[ure] to comply with the terms of a notice of traffic infraction' includes the failure to pay monetary penalties imposed by a court following an unsuccessful challenge to the notice of traffic infraction."). The cross-reference to the infraction provisions found in RCW 46.63.110(6)—while not directly applicable to a criminal citation—is a related statute that provides important context to the legislature's meaning of the phrase. Based on that statute, the legislative scheme demonstrates the intent with respect to criminal traffic citations that a person fulfills both appearance and monetary obligations connected with any traffic violation to avoid a license suspension.

Johnson narrowly construes a failure to comply with a citation to not include a person's failure to pay a fine, but only a failure to appear based exclusively on the cross-reference to RCW 46.64.025. Pet. for Rev. 14-15. But this Court rejected a similar argument in *Johnson*, 179 Wn.2d at 542-48. Although Johnson correctly points out that the *Johnson* court

relied in part on statutory cross-references regarding imposition of a fine for infractions, the reasoning remains that failure to comply with an infraction includes failure to pay a fine imposed at a hearing on the infraction. *Id.* Similarly, failure to comply with the terms of a citation should include failure to pay a fine imposed at a hearing on the citation. Johnson's interpretation, on the other hand, would lead to absurd results. According to his interpretation, the Legislature intended suspensions for non-payment of obligations for less serious infractions but did not intend suspensions for non-payment of more serious offenses like DUIs and reckless driving. Courts avoid constructions of statutes that yield unlikely or absurd results. *State v. Huffman*, 185 Wn. App. 98, 340 P.3d 903, 905 (2014) (citation omitted).

Johnson has failed to comply with the terms of a citation for a moving violation and thus is not entitled to have his license reinstated. The Court of Appeals' holding affirming the dismissal of his writ petition was correct and needs no further review.

# C. The Court Should Deny Johnson's Petition as a Writ of Prohibition Was Not Proper

Although the Court of Appeals did not address the issue, it could have affirmed the dismissal of the writ petition on the alternative grounds that Johnson could not demonstrate all of the necessary requirements for a writ. This Court could affirm on this ground if it accepts review. *See State* v. *Bobic*, 140 Wn.2d 250, 257, 996 P.2d 610 (2000) (court can affirm on any basis supported in the record below).

A writ is an extraordinary remedy. See City of Kirkland v. Ellis, 82 Wn. App. 819, 827, 920 P.2d 206 (1996). To be entitled to a writ, a person must demonstrate an (1) absence or excess or jurisdiction, or (2) an absence of a plain, speedy, and adequate remedy. RCW 7.16.290; Skagit Cty. Pub. Hosp. Dist. No. 304 v. Skagit Cty. Pub. Hosp. Dist. No. 1, 177 Wn.2d 718, 722-23, 305 P.3d 1079 (2013). The absence of either one precludes the issuance of the writ. Kreidler v. Eikenberry, 111 Wn.2d 828, 838, 766 P.2d 438 (1989).

Even assuming that the Department has incorrectly interpreted RCW 46.20.289 and the 2012 amendments to it, the Department has not acted in excess of its jurisdiction. A statutory writ of prohibition arrests an action in excess of a state actor's jurisdiction, but it is "not a proper remedy, however, where the only allegation is that the actor is exercising jurisdiction in an erroneous manner." *Brower v. Charles*, 82 Wn. App. 53, 59, 914 P.2d 1202 (1996).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The Court's jurisprudence on subject matter jurisdiction is helpful in defining jurisdiction for the purpose of obtaining a writ: "A tribunal lacks subject matter jurisdiction when it attempts to decide a type of controversy over which it has no authority to adjudicate." *Marley v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 125 Wn.2d 533, 539, 886 P.2d 189 (1994). "[T]he focus must be on the words 'type of controversy.' If the type of

Generally, the Department has jurisdiction to take actions against drivers' licenses by virtue of RCW 46.01.040. That section provides that the Department is "vested with all powers, functions, and duties with respect to and including . . . [d]rivers' licenses as provided in chapter 46.20 RCW." RCW 46.01.040. The amendments to RCW 46.20.289 did not alter the type of controversies the Department may adjudicate, i.e., license suspensions. The defects alleged by Johnson go to something other than jurisdiction—they go to the statutory interpretation of RCW 46.20.289. The Department's decision to not adopt Johnson's interpretation of RCW 46.20.289, whether erroneous or not, is not an action that exceeds the Department's general authority to administer the driving privilege. The amendments to RCW 46.20.289 jurisdictional, because they do not change the type of controversy the Department decides.

While a writ or prohibition is not the correct action to clarify the interpretation of RCW 46.20.289, the Department's lack of action is reviewable under other procedures available to Johnson. Johnson had other plain, speedy, and adequate remedies and thus cannot obtain a writ.

controversy is within the subject matter jurisdiction, then all other defects or errors go to something other than subject matter jurisdiction." *Id.* (citing Robert J. Martineau, *Subject Matter Jurisdiction as a New Issue on Appeal: Reining in an Unruly Horse*, 1988 BYU L. Rev. 1, 28 (1988)). "Courts do not lose subject matter jurisdiction merely by interpreting the law erroneously." *Marley*, 125 Wn.2d at 539.

When Johnson was notified by the Department in 2009 of his second suspension for non-payment of a fine stemming from a criminal citation, Johnson could have requested an administrative review before the Department under RCW 46.20.245.

Under RCW 46.20.245, the issues to be addressed are:

- (i) Whether the records relied on by the department identify the correct person; and
- (ii) Whether the information transmitted from the court or other reporting agency or entity regarding the person accurately describes the action taken by the court or other reporting agency or entity.

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